#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Since the record on appeal will not be completed by the time when Appellant Ivey's Initial Brief is due to be filed, Appellant Ivey has prepared and filed an Appendix. Cites in this Brief are to the Appendix, thusly: "App. Vol. \_\_\_\_, p. \_\_\_\_

The parties are referred to thusly:

Bacardi Imports Co., Inc. - "Bacardi" or "Plaintiffs." N. Goldring Corporation - "N. Goldring" or "Plaintiffs." California Wine Institute - "California Wine" or "Plaintiffs." Tampa Wholesale Distributing Co., Inc. - "Tampa Wholesale" or "Plaintiffs."

C. Leonard Ivey - "Appellant Ivey" or "Ivey."

#### QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN JUDGING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF §§10 AND 11, CH. 88-308, LAWS OF FLORIDA ACCORDING TO A STRICT SCRUTINY ANALYSIS WHEN THE STATUTE IS AN EXERCISE OF FLORIDA'S POLICE POWERS UNDER THE TWENTY-FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES?

2. WHEN JUDGED BY THE CONSTITUTIONAL STANDARD APPROPRIATE TO A STATE'S EXERCISE OF ITS TWENTY-FIRST AMENDMENT AUTHORITY, ARE §§10 AND 11 OF CH. 88-308, LAWS OF FLORIDA, CONSTITUTIONAL?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

During the 1988 Legislative session, the Florida Legislature enacted §§9-11, Ch. 88-308, Laws of Fla. Section 9 set out statements of legislative policy in regard to the importation of wines and liquors into Florida.<sup>1</sup> Prior to the passage of §§9-11, Ch. 88-308, this Court held that the provisions of §§564.06 and 565.12, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1985), which for only economic reasons granted exemptions from the then-extant alcoholic beverage excise tax, were invalid under the Commerce Clause of Art. I, §8, Constitution of the United States. <u>Division of Alcoholic</u> <u>Beverages & Tobacco v. McKesson Corp.</u>, 524 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1988).

<sup>1</sup> Section 9, Ch.88-308, Laws of Fla., provides:

Effective July 1, 1988, the Legislature finds and determines that the authorized transportation and importation into the state of alcoholic beverages described in chapters 564 and 565, Florida Statutes, require strict enforcement of state statutes regulating and administering the manufacture, distribution and sale of alcoholic beverages; the costs of regulating and administering such imported alcoholic beverages are greater than for those alcoholic beverages not imported; the production of lower quality alcoholic beverages should be discouraged; and in order to protect the health, safety, welfare and economic integrity of the state, the costs of ensuring compliance with relevant state laws should be included in the taxes imposed upon said alcoholic beverages.

Chapter 88-308 completely repealed the 1985 economic based excise tax - exemption structure. In its place, Ch. 88-308 enacted a beverage excise tax with rates higher than the exemption rates for favored products under the 1985 Statutes. Compare §§564.06, 565.12, Fla. Stat. (1985) with §§10,11, Ch. 88-308, Laws of Fla. Chapter 88-308, in furtherance of the police power objectives set forth in §9 thereof, enacted an import tax on all wines and distilled spirits imported into Florida for use and consumption in Florida. §§10 and 11, Ch. 88-308, Laws of The legislature also imposed the following regulatory Fla. requirement: "All beverages distilled in this state for sale in state shall be distilled above 185 proof, except for this flavoring extracts, of produce from land inspected by Florida agricultural inspectors." §565.12(4), Fla. Stat., as amended by §11, Ch. 88-308, Laws of Fla. See also §564.06(7), Fla. Stat., as amended by §10, Ch. 88-308, Laws of Fla.

instituted by Bacardi and Goldring, N. as Suit was distributors of imported alcoholic beverages, who contended that the importation tax violated the dormant Commerce Clause, the Export-Import Clause and the Equal Protection Clause of the States, Florida's as well as Constitution of the United equal protection. (App. Vol.I, constitutional guarantee of and Tampa Wholesale intervened as California Wine p.8). plaintiffs. (App. Vol. I., p. 35,38). Jacquin-Florida Distilling Co., Inc., and Todhunter International, Inc., intervened as parties defendant. (App. Vol.I, p. 23,26).

At trial, Plaintiffs abandoned all challenges to Ch.88-308 other than the Commerce Clause argument. (App. Vol. I, p. 313-364).

Plaintiffs moved for preliminary injunctive relief, which the trial court declined to grant after hearing on August 10, 1988. The trial court at that time indicated its view that the instant case was different from the case of <u>Division of Alcoholic</u> <u>Beverages & Tobacco v.McKesson, supra</u>, over which the trial judge had presided at the trial level, since the provisions of Ch. 88-308 involved the Twenty-first Amendment. (App. Vol. II, p. 15-18).

After extensive discovery, the trial court, on motion of Appellant Ivey, held a pretrial conference on September 26, At pretrial Ivey reminded the trial court that this case 1988. was, unlike McKesson, a true Twenty-first Amendment case, and urged the court to apply the correct standard of review in judging the constitutionality of Ch. 88-308, the standard traditionally accorded in cases where a state's Twenty-first challenged on dormant Commerce Clause Amendment action is grounds: Does Ch. 88-308 rationally advance legitimate concerns of the Twenty-first Amendment? (App. Vol. I, p. 39-14, Vol. II, p. 22-36). Despite the court's earlier conclusion that Ch. 88-308 implicated the Twenty-first Amendment, (App. Vol. II, p. 15-18), the trial court ruled at pretrial that Ch. 88-308 was to be judged, not under traditional Twenty-first Amendment analysis and not even by Commerce Clause standards, but instead under a strict scrutiny standard. The court required the State to demonstrate

that §9-11, Ch. 88-308 were necessary to promote compelling state interests. It also placed on the State the burden of proof as to the constitutionality of Ch. 88-308. (App. Vol. II, p. 53-54).

At trial, the State introduced both documentary and testimonial evidence that police power objectives under the Twenty-first Amendment were advanced by §§9-11 of Ch. 88-308. That evidence is categorized and summarized below.

## THE STATE'S EVIDENCE PERTAINING TO ENHANCING REGULATORY POWER OVER THE DISTRIBUTION CHAIN OF WINES AND DISTILLED SPIRITS.

The State called John Harris, Chief of the Bureau of Law Enforcement, Division of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco Mr. Harris is a sworn law enforcement officer with (DABT). twenty years experience in enforcing the alcoholic beverage laws of Florida (App. Vol. II, p. 118). It is his responsibility to criminal administrative investigations conduct and into violations of Florida's beverage laws and to conduct background investigations of persons seeking licenses to manufacture and sell beverages in Florida. (App. Vol. II, p. 118-119). His duties include investigations of Florida's Tied House Evil Act, which is designed to prevent improper interests of alcoholic beverage manufactures in licensed Florida distributors and alcoholic beverages, and investigations under retailers of Florida's laws designed to keep criminal elements from gaining a foothold in Florida's alcoholic beverage distribution system. (App. Vol. II, p. 120-122). Mr. Harris has conducted numerous

investigations where an out-of-state manufacturer of beverages was either the target of an investigation or may have had information pertinent to an investigation of a Florida licensee, as well as numerous investigations where all persons involved (App. Vol. II, p. 122-123). were located in Florida. He testified without dispute from his informed experience that DABT has greater regulatory authority and control in cases where an alcoholic beverage manufacturer is located in Florida than in the case where the manufacturer is out-of-state. He testified to that effect because the licensure provisions applicable to an instate manufacturer give DABT substantially more legal and in-state alcoholic beverage practical control over an manufacturer than DABT has over a manufacturer located outside of Florida. (App. Vol. II, p. 123-125, 135-136). Plaintiffs presented no rebuttal to that testimony.

## THE STATE'S EVIDENCE PERTAINING TO HEALTH RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH CONSUMPTION OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES DISTILLED AT LESS THAN 185 PROOF.

The State also presented evidence showing that the requirement in Ch. 88-308 that alcoholic beverages distilled in this State for sale in Florida be distilled above 185 proof, coupled with a tax encouragement to consume such beverages, rationally relates to health objectives of the State under the Twenty-first Amendment.

Dr. Teaf, a toxicologist, tesified for the State as an expert. Dr. Teaf testified that certain chemicals, which by stipulation of the parties were conceded to be present in

alcoholic beverages distilled below 185 proof (App. Vol. I, p. 121-125), have the demonstrated capacity to produce deleterious effects in scientific tests, effects including birth defects, changes in chromosome structure and increases in the rate of (App. Vol. II, p. 228-244, Vol. I, p. 212malignant tumors. further testified that those substances when 217). He in combination with ethanol - the intoxicating administered ingredient in all alcoholic beverages - are significantly more administered alone, because ethanol is potent than when considered by the scientific community to increase the toxic potency of such chemicals (App. Vol. II, p. 238-242, 255-256). Further, the evidence showed that the chemicals in question - nbutyl alcohol, isoamyl alcohol, n-butyric acid and urethane - are included on Florida's hazardous substance list. (App. Vol. II, p. 241-242; Vol. I, p. 45-120; Vol. II, p. 211-216).

On cross examination Dr. Teaf testified that some of those substances are generally regarded by the federal Food & Drug Administration (FDA) as safe for their intended use when occuring in foodstuffs. However, he noted that FDA regulations do not address the safety of those substances in alcoholic beverages. (App. Vol. II, p. 245-249).

The importance of that health-risk evidence is made apparent by the stipulation entered into by the parties (App. I, p. 121-125) and accepted by the Court (App. Vol. II, p. 210-211) and by the materials judicially noticed by the Court. The Stipulation shows that the chemicals in question are removed when subjected to carefully controlled distillation above the 185 proof level.

The evidence showed that urethane is commonly found in significant amounts in beverages such as bourbons, scotches, blended whiskeys, brandies and the like which are distilled below 185 proof. (App. Vol. I, p. 45-120). Further, the testimony of James Hammond established that unless one inspects the distilled product at the point that it is removed from the distillation column and before it is diluted and bottled, it is impossible to tell whether the bottled product was made from ethanol distilled above 185 proof. One cannot make that determination from examining the bottled product. That determination must be made on site at the distillery. (App. Vol. II, p. 257-261). The record also shows that a significant amount of imported beverages sold in Florida consist of products such as bourbon, which which cannot be distilled above 185 proof, and therefore contain significant amounts of those genotoxic chemicals. (App. Vol. I, p. 45-120,230; Vol. II, p. 273-275).

Appellees presented testimony in an attempt to rebut the State's evidence on the health-risk concerns addressed by Ch.88-308. They called John Doull, a toxocologist, who tesified on direct examination that in his opinion n-butyl alcohol, isoamyl alcohol and n-butyric alcohol are harmless to man when used at recommended levels as food additives. He also testified that urethane occurs naturally in some foods (App. Vol. II, p. 285-288) and he disagreed with the State's expert as to the significance of scientific evidence on the genotoxic potential of urethane. (App. Vol. II, p. 291).

On cross examination, however, Dr. Doull admitted that the basis for the majority of his testimony was "GRAS" (generallyregarded-as-safe) levels put out by FDA. He conceded that FDA "GRAS" pronouncements pertain only to the safety of chemicals as food additives and not to their safety in alcoholic beverages. (App. Vol. II, p. 296).

Dr. Doull also admitted that regulatory decisions must be made, and often are made, based on data which would not satisfy pure scientific inquiry. (App. Vol. II, p. 298). He agreed that there is scientific evidence that all the chemicals in question produce genotoxic effects in test systems routinely used by toxicologists (App. Vol. II, p. 298-299). He further testified that, where available data shows toxicity in a variety of tests, as these chemcials do, it is better to minimize exposures, if He admitted that possible to do so. (App. Vol. II, p. 302). urethane is in all likelihood a human carcinogen (App. Vol. II, p. 305) and that it is a reasonable regulatory decision to limit He likewise so exposure to it (App. Vol. II, p. 306-307). to all chemicals shown to alter DNA in an testified as irreversible way, as the chemicals in question do (App. Vol. II, p. 308-309). He also acknowledged that the chemicals in question in a mixture with ethanol - the intoxicant in alcoholic beverages - have added potency (App. Vol. II, p. 310-311).

The evidence thus demonstrated that, although there is a diversity of toxicological opinion as to the conclusiveness of scientific evidence on genotoxicity of the chemicals in question, there is significant scientific evidence of genotoxic effects

from each of them, general agreement that the risk of genotoxic effects is increased by imbibing them in alcoholic beverages, and general agreement that it is a prudent regulatory measure to reduce exposure to such chemicals. The evidence also showed that the mechanism chosen by the State to address the problem is rational. The undisputed evidence is that distillation at above 185 proof removes all but trace amounts of these chemicals from the alcohol.

# THE STATE'S EVIDENCE PERTAINING TO COSTS OF REGULATION ASSOCIATED WITH IMPORTED WINES AND LIQUORS.

The State presented evidence at trial which showed Florida tremendous societal and its political costs to subdivisions associated with the consumption of alcoholic The State demonstrated that there were beverages. 57,075 convictions for driving under the influence of alcohol or drugs during 1987 (App. Vol. I, p. 126-128) and 50,464 such convictions in 1988 (App. Vol. I, p. 129). The State showed that the direct annual cost of police operations for the Board of Regents is \$10,056,692 (App. Vol. I, p. 130-140) and that the cost to counties for Sheriffs' direct policing activities is in excess of \$987 million annually. (App. Vol. I, p. 141-142). The State further showed that the Department of Health & Rehabilitive Services expends \$16,212,000 annually on alcoholism treatment (App. Vol. I, p. 143-145), and that the budget of the Division of Alcoholic Beverages & Tobacco is \$21,000,000 annually. The State thus showed that Florida and its subdivisions spend in excess of \$1.2 billion a year on expenses of law enforcement activity, not

including operating capital outlay, not including municipal police operations and not including operations and capital outlays for the state prison system.

The State also proved that conservatively 50% of the costs associated with that police activity is attributable to the consumption of alcoholic beverages (App. Vol. II, p. 69-72, 73-76, 78-81, 82-88, 89-90). Of the alcoholic beverages consumed in Florida during fiscal year 1987-1988, 46.8% of the alcoholic content consumed came from wine and liquor, as opposed to alcohol consumed in beer (App. Vol. II, p. 276-280). Therefore, the evidence shows that approximately one quarter of the annual cost of general law enforcement activity in this state is attributable to behavior in which consumption of alcohol in wine and liquor is a contributing factor to the police response (\$300,000,000).

The State also showed that 97.54% of the wine and liquor to be consumed during the current fiscal year would be wine and imported into Florida, while only 2.46% would be liquor domestically produced (App. Vol. II, p. 104-108). The State further showed that under the provisions of §§9-11, Ch. 88-308, imported wines and liquors would pay 98.06% of the total liquors alcoholic beverage taxes on wines and and that domestically produced wines and liquors would pay 1.94% of the total beverage taxes on such products (App. Vol. II, p. 104-108).

The evidence thus showed that the tax distribution formula of Ch. 88-308 fairly apportions the total tax burden on imported and domestic products in relation to their contributions to the problems of alcohol in this State.

Finally, the State showed that the State annually passes in excess of \$800 million in general revenue funds down to the counties and municipalities to support county-wide and city-wide programs, such as law enforcement. (App. Vol. I, p. 146-181). Thus, the costs of alcohol to the state are shown by the evidence not to be limited to expenditures for the Division of Alocholic Beverages & Tobacco, as Appellees contended at trial. Instead the evidence shows that the costs to this state associated with imported wine and liquor are tremendous, and are experienced at all levels of government.

#### THE PLAINTIFFS' EVIDENCE.

The Plaintiffs' evidence on the health-risk issue is summarized above.

Plaintiffs did not offer any evidence at trial to refute the testimony of John Harris that Florida has better regulatory control over Florida manufacturers of alcoholic beverages than over manufacturers located outside of Florida. Nor did plaintiffs offer any evidence at trial to rebut the State's evidence summarized above as to the overall costs to the State associated with the consumption of imported wines and liquors.

Instead, the thrust of plaintiffs' evidence was that the Division of Alcoholic Beverages & Tobacco, when viewed alone, experienced no greater costs in its operations to regulate imported beverages on a per-gallon basis (and in regard to some functions experienced less cost on a per-gallon measure) and that the Division did not itself have any evidence to support the

legislative findings in §9, Ch. 88-308, relating to the costs of regulation (App. Vol. I, p. 182-211; Vol. II, p. 127-128, 143-144). The plaintiffs also introduced, over objection, evidence that the legislature was not heard to discuss the policy reasons stated in §9 in committee meetings or in floor debate (App. Vol. I, p. 231; Vol. II, p. 174-177) 169-172). (As to the floor debates and committee hearings the trial court agreed with the State's objection on relevancy grounds, but admitted them into evidence anyway.) (App. Vol. II, p. 180-184). The floor debates showed that the House sponsor of the amendment to Ch. 88-308 which inserted §§9-11 argued for the amendment on the grounds that it would protect jobs in his district. Plaintiffs also introduced evidence, over the State's objections, that the executive branch viewed the bill as having a protectionist motive and lobbied the Governor to veto the bill. (App. Vol. I, p. 182-211). Plaintiffs introduced evidence to show that at the time of trial the Florida Department of Agriculture had not yet implemented an inspection program for agricultural lands (App. Vol. II, p. 280(a)-280(b)).

#### THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING.

At the close of the evidence, the trial court ruled orally from the bench that §§9-11 of Ch. 88-308 violated the Commerce Clause (App. Vol. I, p. 357-363). The court's oral ruling was incorporated into a final judgment entered on November 30, 1988. (App. Vol. I, p. 218-229). The trial court based its ruling in part on the purported motivations of legislators ("This

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