SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

C. LEONARD IVEY, Director, Division of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco, Department of Business Regulation,

Defendant/Appellant

and

JACQUIN-FLORIDA DISTILLING COMPANY, INC. and TODHUNTER INTERNATIONAL, INC.,

> Intervenor/Defendants Appellants

v.

BACARDI IMPORTS, INC. and N. GOLDRING CORP.,

Plaintiffs/Appellees

and

THE CALIFORNIA WINE INSTITUTE and TAMPA WHOLESALE LIQUORS, INC.,

> Intervenor Plaintiffs/ Appellees.

CASE NO: 73,424

SID

DEC

IPRE

Debuty Clerk

ME COLL

CLERK.

By,

A 1-10-89

On Appeal from the Second Judicial Circuit, Leon County Florida, Case No. 88-2881

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES BACARDI IMPORTS, INC. AND N. GOLDRING CORP.

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

Even the Twenty-First Amendment will not justify such a tax, however, if the amount raised is unreasonable in view of the amount needed to accomplish the permitted objective. If the tax is "... clearly excessive it is <u>bad in toto</u> and the state cannot collect any part of it." [Emphasis added.] Great Northern, 300 U.S. at 161, 57 S.Ct. at 401.

 $[\]frac{8}{1}$ The already obvious deceit of the purported "Twenty-First Amendment purpose" is further emphasized by the fact that <u>none</u> of the import tax proceeds will go to fund the DABT. The DABT is funded entirely out of the Alcoholic Beverage and Tobacco Trust Fund, which is in turn funded by the various license and miscellaneous fees collected by the DABT. Fla. Stat. Section 561.025. The excise and import taxes under consideration go into the General Revenue Fund. Thus <u>none</u> of the tax proceeds go to regulation of enforcement of the Beverage Laws, at either the state or local levels.

^{9&#}x27; While Ivey argues the immense societal costs of alcohol abuse exceed the tax revenues, such costs cannot reasonably be said to be included in the term "costs of regulation" used by the Legislature. Costs of regulation imply costs of monitoring and directing the flow of liquor traffic not the costs of dealing with the aftereffects of excessive consumption.

iii. The Statute Does Not Protect The Health, Safety, Welfare or Economic Integrity Of The State

Counsel for Ivey has advanced an interpretation of the Statute entirely different from that of his client. Ivey's Counsel construes the Legislature's requirements for manufacturing in Florida, using Florida produce and distilling above 185 degree proof as regulatory thus making it illegal to manufacture in Florida for sale in Florida without satisfying these requirements. That precise interpretation was considered and rejected by the DABT shortly after passage of the Statute. (App. Sec. I; App. Sec. D, p. 305). The DABT has interpreted the Statute to establish requirements a Florida manufacturer must meet to qualify for exemption from the import tax. (App. Sec. D, pp. 303-307). This inconsistency between the DABT and its counsel is easily resolved. An agency's contemporaneous interpretation of a statute is entitled to great weight, and a court should not depart from the interpretation unless it is clearly erroneous. Warnock v. Florida Hotel and Restaurant Comm'n, 178 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965). In United States v. Vogel Fertilizer Company, 455 U.S. 16, 102 S.Ct. 821 (1982), the Supreme Court held a treasury regulation invalid as an unreasonable interpretation of Section 1561(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Court placed "great weight" on the Treasury Department's prior representation made to Congress when they "participated in drafting and directly made known their views to Congress in Committee hearings" where Section 1561(a) was discussed. Id. at 32, 102 S.Ct. at 830-31. The Treasury Department was bound by that first interpretation of Section 1561(a) and was not allowed to recede to the contrary interpretation subsequently promulgated in its regulations. Accordingly, this Court should give great weight to the DABT's interpretation unless it is clearly erroneous. Shell Harbor Group, Inc. v. Dept. of Business Regulation, 487 So. 2d 1141 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

The DABT's interpretation is not clearly erroneous. In fact, it reconciles several inconsistent aspects of the Statute. The sections of the Statute imposing the import taxes actually read as follows:

> ... there shall be imposed upon the importation into this State of all beverages [description of alcoholic beverages subject to excise tax], an import tax in the amount of \$[tax varies depending on type of beverage] per gallon to be paid by manufacturers and distributors.

Sections 564.06(1)(b), (2)(b), (3)(b) and (4)(b) and Section 565.12(1)(b) and (2)(b), F.S., as amended by the Statute. No statutory guidance is given as to what events other than importation cause the tax to apply. A tax on mere importation would clearly violate the Commerce Clause. The DABT's interpretation avoids this pitfall by construing the conditions of Sections 564.06(7) and 565.12(4) $\frac{10}{}$ as requirements to be met in order that a product not be considered "imported" and thus subject to the import tax.

To establish a valid Twenty-First Amendment concern addressed by the reduced tax on domestic beverages, Defendants had to show that <u>each</u> requirement for that tax benefit in some way promotes a Twenty-First Amendment goal. Those requirements are: (1) the beverages must be manufactured in Florida; (2) from produce of land inspected by Florida agricultural inspectors; and (3) any distilled ingredients must be distilled at over 185 proof. Defendants must show how each of these requirements promotes a valid Twenty-First Amendment purpose.

a. "Florida Produce" Requirement

 $[\]frac{10}{}$ These include: (1) the beverages must be manufactured in Florida; (2) from produce of land inspected by Florida agricultural inspectors; and (3) any distilled ingredients must be distilled at over 185 proof.

Neither Ivey nor the Florida Distillers have advanced any Twenty-First Amendment purpose served by the requirement that beverages qualifying for the lower tax rate be made from land inspected by Florida agricultural inspectors. This requirement serves only to discriminate against imported beverages, which are most likely to be made from non-Florida ingredients. It has been established that no inspections are actually done. The only purpose of this requirement is to promote the use of Florida produce. $\frac{11}{}$ Clearly there is no Twenty-First Amendment purpose for this discriminatory requirement and Trial Court could properly have held the Statute invalid without further inquiry.

b. "Florida Manufacturing" Requirement

Ivey asserts that the requirement that alcoholic beverages be manufactured in Florida in order to qualify for a lower tax rate serves a Twenty-

Jones: We're speaking of produce from land inspected by Florida agricultural inspectors. Florida agricultural inspectors do not inspect land in other states.

Rudd: I want to know about special arrangement, if it were to that state's advantage to move their product to our area, could that arrangement be made?

Jones: It's got to be growing in Florida on Florida land inspected by Florida inspectors and you don't do that in other states.

(App. Sec. A, pp. 32-33).

. !

 $[\]frac{11}{1}$ In the House Floor Debate on the Statute this question was posed by Representative Rudd:

Rudd: Mr. Jones, if another state wanted to sell a product to this particular company we're talking about, could they make an arrangement to have that product inspected by a state inspector of the State of Florida and then have it shipped therein, into the state?

First Amendment purpose by increasing the State's control over such beverages from point of manufacture to point of sale. The evidence does not prove that either is accomplished by this requirement. To support their proposition, lvey and the Florida Distillers cite the testimony of John Harris, Chief, Bureau of Enforcement, DABT, that licensing of Florida manufacturers gives the State greater control because "... they have a greater investment to lose if, in fact, they don't cooperate with some lawful request we make". (App. Sec. D, p. 396, ls. Mr. Harris further testified that the ability to revoke a license to 23-25). manufacture (required for in-state manufacturers only) gave the State more control than the ability to revoke a brand registration (required for all manufacturers seeking to sell in Florida). On cross-examination, however, Mr. Harris admitted that he had never been involved in revocation of a brand registration and thus had no basis for concluding that such action would be less effective in insuring cooperation than license revocation. $\frac{12}{}$ (App. Sec. K, p. 119, ls. 13-20). His opinion concerning the relative control over Florida versus non-Florida manufacturers was not based upon any facts or experience and should be accorded little weight, certainly not enough to sustain a finding that a valid state interest is served by reducing taxes on Florida manufacturers. The Trial Court apparently recognized this weakness in the evidence. It considered the control available through brand revocation, the fact that Mr. Harris acknowledged never having had to conduct an out-of-state investigation, and the heritage of the Statute as its basis to factually determine that there was no Twenty-First Amendment purpose contemplated or effectuated by the Statute and ruled

 $[\]frac{12}{}$ Florida is one of the largest alcoholic beverage markets in the country. No manufacturer could afford to forfeit its right to sell here by having its brand registration revoked.

accordingly. This Court may not disturb that finding unless it finds it clearly erroneous.

The discriminatory effect of the Florida manufacturing requirement is clearly seen in the case of Bacardi products, which are actually rectified and bottled at Jacksonville, Florida. Despite a substantial investment in Florida property, plant, equipment and personnel, these products do not and cannot qualify for exemption simply because a portion of the manufacturing process takes place outside Florida and because some non-Florida products are used in the process. Thus, the discriminatory effect of the Statute is even more invidious than it may seem on its face, benefiting only a small segment of the Florida market.

c. "185 Proof" Requirement

Ivey and the Florida Distillers must also prove a valid Twenty-First Amendment purpose for the requirement that all distilled ingredients in alcoholic beverages be distilled above 185 proof. Not coincidentally, Florida Distiller Jacquin, for whose benefit the Statute was expressly enacted, had for many years prior produced all its beverage alcohol at over 185 proof. (App. Sec. D, p. 284, l. 23; p. 285, l. 7). Only after the Statute was enacted and challenged did Ivey and The Florida Distillers come up with a contrived health purpose for the law. The legislative history offers no support to Defendants' belated theory. There is no indication from the record that the Legislature ever adverted to the supposed health objective in passing the statute. Indeed, the five substances (isoamyl, propyl, and butyl alcohols; butyric acid; and urethane or ethyl carbamate) which Defendants contend are potentially harmful were not identified by the Florida Distillers' until well into the case. (Teaf, p. 273, lines 10-23). Ivey is thus asking this Court to find that a primary objective of the Statute was to cure a purported problem not considered or even known to the Legislature at the time the Statute was passed.

Ivey argues that the 185 proof requirement serves a Twenty-First Amendment purpose by encouraging the people of Florida to consume certain beverages that are allegedly less hazardous than others. As discussed earlier, the Twenty-First Amendment was enacted principally to provide the states with the power to deal with the <u>moral</u> problems associated with alcoholic beverages, not health concerns that fall under the states' general police powers. It is clear from case law and logic that the "well-known evils" incident to alcoholic beverages sought to be addressed by the Twenty-First Amendment relate to their unique ability to intoxicate. This is the reason for the expanded police power granted the states in this area. *See Loretto Winery, Ltd. v. Gazzara*, 601 F. Supp. 850 (S.D.N.Y. 1985) (for a detailed discussion of the history of prohibition and its repeal).

The substances of concern to Ivey are found not only in alcoholic beverages but in many fermented foods including bread, orange juice, yogurt and soy sauce. These substances are by no means unique to alcohol. They were discussed pro and con by the Florida Distillers' and Plaintiffs' experts. The Court, having heard that conflicting testimony, resolved it by finding that the Statute presented no Twenty-First Amendment purpose.

1) The Claimed Health Problem is Illusory

It is Ivey's contention that distillation at above 185 proof removes from the distilled product certain naturally occurring substances resulting from the fermentation process that in the opinion of Dr. Teaf, the Florida Distillers' expert, have "... The potential to cause toxic effects in human beings." (App. Sec. D,

- 38 -

pp. 254-256). Dr. Teaf's carefully delimited opinion that these substances have the "potential" to have toxic effects hardly supports Ivey's assertion of a health risk problem since it is indisputable that <u>all</u> organic compounds and chemicals have the potential at some level to cause toxic effects in man. No evidence was offered that at the levels found in alcoholic beverages, any of the identified substances were harmful or caused genotoxic or toxic effects in man.

On the contrary, the record evidenced shows the substances involved at the levels found in alcoholic beverages are not harmful. Bacardi presented as its expert, Dr. John Doull. Dr. Doull, a recent past president of the Society of Toxicology and Chairman of the Toxicology Panel of the National Academy of Science, holds an M.D. as well as a Ph.D. in Pharmacology. Dr. Doull is also a member of the expert panel of Flavor Extract Manufacturing Association ("FEMA"), which evaluates the safety of primary food additives and other chemicals. During his long distinguished career, Dr. Doull has frequently advised governmental agencies on issues of food safety (App. Sec. D, pp. 357).

Dr. Doull testified that it was his opinion to a reasonable medical certainty that butyl alcohol, propyl alcohol, isoamyl alcohol, and butyric acid were all safe as used at recommended levels. (App. Sec. D, p. 360, l. 12; p. 362, l. 23). He further testified that all four substances were generally recognized as safe by the scientific community and the Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") and appear on the GRAS (Generally Regarded As Safe) lists adopted by regulation by FDA (21 C.F.R. §S 182, 184 and 186). FEMA also has evaluated these substances and found them to be safe.

Dr. Doull testified that urethane or ethyl carbamate was commonly found in numerous foods, including orange juice, mushrooms, bread and anything else in which the fermentation process is involved. (*Id.* p. 363, ls. 14-19). While

4

- 39 -

Dr. Doull indicated there was some concern over the possible toxicity of urethane, he concurred with FDA's judgment that there was insufficient data available to make a risk assessment on ethyl carbamate. Accordingly, he concluded that FDA's policy of imposing a temporary limit of 125 parts per billion on the amount of urethane in certain distilled spirits was a prudent one. (App. Sec. D, p. 366, ls. 14-24). In any event, urethane is distilled out of alcoholic beverages at 130 proof, well below the Statute's 185 proof requirement. (App. Sec. L, p. 3).

Consequently, there can be no question that Dr. Doull's testimony, butressed by the FDA's listing of isoamyl alcohol, propyl and butyl alcohols, and butyric acid as GRAS and its findings with regard to the appropriate levels of ethyl carbamate in alcoholic beverages, amply support the Trial Court's conclusion that the purported health objectives for the law contrived by Ivey and the Florida Distillers were illusory.

The 185 proof requirement is clearly unrelated to any actual health concerns and is not a rational reaction to any of the potential health concerns asserted by Defendants. There are hundreds, if not thousands of potential toxins in our food supply. (App. Sec. D, p. 367, Is. 10-16). Under Defendants' arguments, virtually all discrimination could be justified as protecting the health, safety and welfare of consumers because all taxation discourages consumption.

The Trial Court did not ignore Defendants' evidence, it simply did not find Dr. Teaf's testimony regarding the "potential" toxic or genotoxic effects helpful or credible. It was the exclusive province of the Court below as the trier of fact to weigh the credibility of Dr. Teaf and decide the weight, if any, to be ascribed to his opinion. See, e.g., Behm v. Div. of Admin., 292 So. 2d 437 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974); and Nettles v. State of Florida, 409 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). It is indisputable that the Trial Court was free in its discretion to accept or reject

- 40 -

Dr. Teaf's opinion when weighted against the other evidence, the trier of facts own wisdom and experience, and the expert opinion of the far more experienced Dr. Doull. *Id.* Not surprisingly, in view of the overwhelming evidence as to the harmlessness of the substances at the levels involved, the Trial Court found Dr. Teaf's testimony entitled to little or no weight.

2) The Statute Is Not Designed To Meaningfully Reduce The Health Concerns Alleged By Ivey And The Florida Distillers

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